THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED  
SEP 15 2023  
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Richland County  
The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity  
Court of Common Pleas  
Case No.2018CP4000382

Appellate Case No. 2022-001106

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for Ameriquest Mortgage Securities Inc., Asset-Backed Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2004-R4, Respondent..... Respondent

v.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent filed several foreclosure actions against the, appellant, Butch Johnson. The actions were dismissed. The current action that was appealed was not dismissed, contrary to established law. The appellant challenged the standing to the Respondent to bring a foreclosure action. In the case on appeal, the Respondent moved for summary judgment despite there being genuine issues of material fact. The Master in Equity granted the summary judgment even there were obvious issues of material fact. The Appellant appeals.

## FACTS

The Appellant, Butch Johnson is the owner of the property located at 312 Oak Brook Drive, Columbia, SC 29223. The property was subject a mortgage held by the Respondent. The Respondent an action to foreclose the mortgage. Due to defenses raised by the Appellant, the actions were dismissed. Subsequently, the action being appealed was commenced. The Respondent file a motion for summary judgment. The trial judge granted the summary judgment even though there were genuine issues of material fact. The Appellant appeal.

## ARGUMENT

Appellant appeals a decision the Master in Equity granting a summary judgment against the Appellant even though there were genuine issues of material fact and the Appellant was not the moving party, therefore deserving deference.

Summary judgment is properly granted when “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRPC. “The plain language of Rule 56(c), SCRPC, mandates the entry of summary judgment, after adequate time for discovery [,] against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to the party’s case and on which the party will bear the burden of proof at trial.” *Carolina Alliance for Fair Employment v. South Carolina Dept. of Labor, Licensing, and Regulation*, 337 S.C. 476, 485, 523 S.E.2d 795, 800 (S.C. Ct. App. 1999) (affirming summary judgment against plaintiffs who lacked standing to pursue claims). “A complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the non-moving party’s case necessarily renders all other fact immaterial.” *Id.*

The supreme court ruled in *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 529, 511 S.E.2d, 74 (1999), that “summary judgment must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery.” However, “[a] party seeking to recover upon a claim, counterclaim, or cross-claim or to obtain a declaratory judgment may, at any time after the expiration of 30 days from the commencement of the action ... move ... for a summary judgment in his favor upon all or any part thereof.” Rule 56(a), SCRPC.

Once a party has properly moved for summary judgment and has filed a supporting affidavit, the opposing party, if it wishes to have more time for discovery, is required under Rule 56(f),

SCRCF, to file an opposing affidavit to explain why more time is necessary. Doe v. Batson, 345 SC 316, 321, 548 S.E.2d 854, 857 (2001).

Alternatively, a party opposing a summary judgment motion must demonstrate that further discovery would likely adduce facts relevant to the resolution of the case. See Robertson v. First Union Natl. Bank, 350 S.C. 339, 347-47, 565 S.E.2d 309, 313 (Ct. App. 2002); Dawkins v. Fields, 354 S.C. 58, 70, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439 (2003) (finding that summary judgment was proper where the non-moving party had "failed to present any 'specific acts' establishing a genuine issue for trial.").

Here, the Taylors argue they did not have enough time to conduct discovery because they had not had a chance to depose Brown. Under normal circumstances, three months would be insufficient time for discovery if the non-moving party did not have access to the relevant information. But here the Taylors knew about Brown's summary judgment motion in which Brown denied provoking Charlie. The Taylors' attorney had received the insurance carrier's file and had in his possession the statements of the relevant witnesses. (R.156). There were no surprises at the hearing. And yet, the Taylors produced no document in opposition to the motion and made no attempt at discovery. The Taylors certainly had sufficient time to do that. See Middleborough Horiz. Property Regime Council v. Montedison, S.p.A., 320 S.C. 470, 479, 465 S.E.2d 765, 771 (Ct. App. 1996) (sustaining a summary judgment in part because the defendants "advance[d] no good reason why four months was insufficient time ... to develop documentation in opposition to the motion for summary judgment.").

"An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court . . ." Quail Hill, L.L.C. v. Cnty. of Richland, 387 S.C. 223, 235, 692 S.E.2d 499, 505 (2010) (citing Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp., 341 S.C. 372, 379, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000)). "[A] trial court may grant a motion for summary judgment 'if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.'" Id. at 234, 692 S.E.2d at 505 (quoting Rule 56(c), SCRCF)

"An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court . . ." Quail Hill, L.L.C. v. Cnty. of Richland, 387 S.C. 223, 235, 692 S.E.2d 499, 505 (2010) (citing Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp., 341 S.C. 372, 379, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000)). "[A] trial court may grant a motion for summary judgment 'if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.'" Id. at 234, 692 S.E.2d at 505 (quoting Rule 56(c), SCRCF)

Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and should be granted only upon clear and convincing evidence. Additionally, even where there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions are inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should not be granted. Hamilton v. Miller, 301 S.C. 45, 389 S.E.2d 652 (1990). If, after a hearing, the court

determines that summary judgment is appropriate, an order to that effect ending the case should be issued. If the court determines summary judgment is not appropriate, the case should proceed to trial.

George v. Fabri, 345 S.C. 440, 548 S.E.2d 868 (2001). Summary judgment is proper when, after reviewing the motion, supporting affidavits, and the pleadings, there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. In determining whether summary judgment is appropriate, the evidence and its reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Baughman v. American Telephone and Telegraph Company, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991). The Appellant, the non-moving party was not looked upon favorably. There were several issues that in dispute.

#### STANDING

The Respondent never had proper standing to bring the foreclosure action against the Appellant. The Respondent never produced the original note or evidence of assignment.


In a foreclosure case in late 2017, the Florida District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, found that the foreclosing party did not demonstrate proper standing at the time it started the foreclosure and reversed a final foreclosure judgment, and remanded the case for entry of an involuntary dismissal.

#### CONCLUSION

The Court erred in granting the Respondent motion for summary judgment because the Respondent did not comply with Rule 56 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.