RECEIVED

Oct 11 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2022-001106
Trial Court Case No. 2018-CP-40-00382

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company
As Trustee for Ameriquest Mortgage
Securities Inc., Asset-Backed Pass-Through
Certificates, Series 2004-R4Respondent,

v.

Butch Johnson a/k/a Butch Johnson Richard; Wildewood V Homeowners Association, Inc.;
Fleetcor Technologies Operating Company, LLC; South Carolina Community Bank; Palmetto
Citizens Federal Credit Union; East Richland County Public Service District; Alcon Action

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Appellant properly preserve his issues on appeal?
2. Did the Lower Court properly award summary judgment to the Respondent?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for Ameriquest Mortgage Securities Inc., Asset-Backed Pass-Through Certificates Series 2004-R4 (“Respondent”) filed a Summons and Complaint on January 18, 2018, asking the Lower Court to foreclose a promissory note and mortgage in the amount of Five Hundred Forty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$540,000.00) given to Ameriquest Mortgage Company dated March 24, 2004 by Butch Johnson (“Appellant”). The property secured by the mortgage and the subject of the foreclosure is known as 321 Oakbrook Drive Columbia, South Carolina (“Property”). On March 6, 2006, Ameriquest Mortgage Company transferred and assigned all its right, title, and interest of the Mortgage to the Respondent by an assignment recorded on March 17, 2006. boundary of the described property. The mortgage loan was modified by Loan Modification Agreement dated December 1, 2015, where by the principal balance was increased from Five Hundred Forty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$540,000.00) to One Million One Hundred Ninety-Nine Thousand Seventy- Eight and 82/100 Dollars (\$1,199,078.82). Appellant conveyed the Property to Alcon Action Agency II LLC by Deed Dated March 27, 2007 and recorded March 27, 2007 in Book 1296 Page 860 in the Register of Deeds office for Richland County. Respondent named Appellant and Alcon Action Agency II LLC as parties to the foreclosure action as the obligor under the note and mortgage and as the owner of the Property.

Throughout February and March 2018, Respondent attempted to serve Appellant personally by service through individual process servers and the Richland County Sheriff’s Department, but Appellant purposefully evaded service. *See* Affidavits of Service dated February 5, 2018; March 28, 2018. As such, on April 12, 2018, in compliance with South Carolina law, Respondent mailed to Appellant, via certified mail, a copy of the Notice of Foreclosure Intervention, Lis Pendens, Summons, and Complaint. *See* Affidavit of Service dated Apr. 12,

2018. In addition to serving Appellant by certified mail, Respondent served him by publication pursuant to that Order of Publication filed April 16, 2018. *See* Order of Publication filed April 16, 2018. Service upon Appellant by publication was completed on May 4, 2018. *See* Affidavit of Service by Publication filed July 23, 2018. Having heard no response from Defendant, on June 22, 2018, Respondent entered an affidavit of default against Appellant. *See* Affidavit of Default dated June 22, 2018. More than three months after service by certified mail and two months after service by publication, Appellant filed a Motion to Set Aside Default and his Answer on July 17, 2018. On October 22, 2018, at a hearing on the Appellant's motion, the Court issued an Order granting the motion to Set Aside Default, striking the Appellant's Counterclaims, and allowing the Answer filed by the Defendant to stand.

Respondent filed its motion for summary judgment, which included an affidavit from the Respondent setting forth the loan documents and the debt owed on the loan, on November 30, 2020. Appellant, appearing *pro se*, responded by filing a reply to motion for summary judgment on December 30, 2020. A hearing on the Respondent's motion for summary judgment was scheduled for June 28, 2022 before the Lower Court. On June 22, 2022, Respondent filed its memo in support of motion for summary judgment.

At the hearing on the motion for summary judgment on June 28, 2022, Appellant did not appear at the hearing, but was represented at that hearing by counsel, William Pyatt, Esq. Mr. Pyatt had indicated to Respondent's counsel that they did not contest the Respondent's motion for summary judgment, but wanted additional time before a foreclosure sale to vacate the Property or perhaps have some time to sell the Property. The foreclosure sale would have been on August 1, 2022; however, the Lower Court pushed the sale back to September 6, 2022. (The regular sales

date would have been Monday, September 5, but due to the Labor Day holiday, the sales date would be September 6, 2022).

Neither the Respondent, nor his attorney, submitted an affidavit in reply to the Affidavit filed by the Respondent in support of its motion for summary judgment. Additionally, the Appellant did not appear at the June 28 hearing to object to the relief sought by the Respondent and no objection was entered by his attorney, Mr. Pyatt. On July 19, 2022, the Lower Court entered a Master's Order and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale granting the Respondent's motion for summary judgment on the foreclosure matter.

On July 20, 2022, almost a month after the Appellant failed to appear at the June 28, 2022 summary judgment motion hearing, the Respondent filed a Reply to the Plaintiff Motion for Summary Judgment. On July 22, 2022, Appellant filed a document entitled Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration. However, this document asks that the Court reconsider "...its December 20, 2021 Order", and not the July 19, 2022 Master's Order which granted Respondent summary judgment on the foreclosure. The July 22, 2022 Motion to Reconsider also requested that the Defendant Sammie L. Goodwin be granted relief from the Master's Order. Respondent has no idea who "Sammie L. Goodwin" might be. On July 26, 2022, Appellant filed a Motion for Continuance seeking continuance of a scheduled hearing; however, no hearing was scheduled at that time. On July 28, 2022, the Lower Court issued an Order denying the Appellant's motion for reconsideration, reply to Plaintiff's motion for Summary Judgment, and motion for continuance. On July 29, 2022, Appellant filed an amended motion for reconsideration which removed some of the extraneous matter from the original motion for reconsideration, but did not include any new arguments or issues. The amended motion for reconsideration was denied by Order of the Lower Court issued on August 2, 2022. This appeal then followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite dispositions of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder." George v. Fabri, 345 S.C. 440, 452, 548 S.E.2d 868, 874 (2001). A motion for summary judgment must be granted "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Standard Fire v. Marine Contracting, 301 S.C. 418, 421, 392 S.E.2d 460, 462; Rule 56(c), SCRPC. If the non-moving party has not shown a genuine issue of material fact, "summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him." Rule 56(e), SCRPC.

"Once the party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent's case, the opponent cannot simply rest on mere allegations or denials contained in the pleadings." Regions Bank v. Schmauch, 354 S.C. 648, 660, 582 S.E.2d 432, 438, (Ct. App. 2003) (citing Rule 56(c), SCRPC; SSI Med. Servs., Inc. v. Cox, 301 S.C. 493, 497, 392 S.E.2d 789, 792 (1990); Peterson v. W. Am. Ins. Co., 336 S.C. 89, 94, 518 S.E.2d 608, 610 (Ct. App. 1999)). "Rather, the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial." *Id.* To avoid the granting of a Motion for Summary Judgment by Plaintiff, "[i]t is not sufficient that one create an inference which is not reasonable. Similarly, it is not sufficient that one create an issue of fact that is not genuine." Main v. Corley, 281 S.C. 525, 527, 316 S.E.2d 406, 407 (1984). "The trial court should grant summary judgment against a party who has failed to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an essential element of that party's case." Harris v. Rose's Stores, 315 S.C. 344, 346, 433 S.E.2d 905, 906, (Ct. App. 1993) (citing Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986)).

ARGUMENT

1. The Appellant failed to preserve his issues for appeal.

Appellant raises several issues that were not raised or ruled on by the Lower Court. Appellant states the following issues and/or arguments, which were not raised or ruled upon by the Master in Equity:

- A. There were genuine issues of material fact.
- B. The Appellant needed more time for discovery.
- C. The Respondent lacked standing and failed to produce the original Note and evidence of assignment.

Appellant Initial Br. at pp 3-5.

“It is an axiomatic rule of law that issues may not be raised for the first time on appeal.” *State ex rel. Wilson v. Ortho-Mcneil-JanssenPharms.*, 414 S.C. 33, 83 n.33, 777 S.E.2d 176, 202 n.33 (2015) (quoting *Talley v. South Carolina Higher Educ. Tuition Grants Comm.*, 289 S.C. 483, 487, 347 S.E.2d 99, 101 (1986)). Each issue ““must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved.”” *Buist v. Buist*, 410, S.C. 569, 574, 766 S.E.2d 381, 383 (2014) (quoting *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 564, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006)). “Prohibiting an appellant from raising an issue for the first time on appeal insures the trial court is able ‘to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.’” *State v. Cope*, 405 S.C. 317, 339, 748 S.E.2d 194, 205 (2013) (quoting *Herron v. Century BMW* 395 S.C. 461,465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2012)).

The Appellant’s appeal raises several issues, which even when liberally construed, were neither presented before nor ruled on by the Master in Equity. In addition, the Appellant had over four years to complete discovery and did not do so. The Appellant states that there are “issues”, but fails to state what those issues are. The Appellant argues that there were genuine

facts in dispute, but never states what those facts are and did not do so at the motion hearing on June 28, 2022.

The Court should deny Appellant's appeal based on his failure to sufficiently argue or cite legal authority in support of his position. Where an "appellant fails to provide arguments or supporting authority for his assertions," "he is deemed to have abandoned this issue." *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 316 S.C. 361.363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994). "Mere allegations of error are not sufficient to demonstrate an abuse of discretion. On appeal the burden of showing abuse of discretion is on the party challenging the trial court's ruling." *Id.*; *Tirado v. Tirado*, 339 S.C. 649, 655, 530 S.E.2d 128, 131 (Ct. App. 2000) (holding that an issue which is not supported by authority or sufficiently argued is not preserved for appellate review).

In his Amended Motion for Reconsideration, Appellant raises issues regarding the Respondent's Note, service of process, and makes allegations of a meritorious defense. However, these issues were not raised at the hearing on the Respondent's motion for summary judgment, so, these issues are not preserved for appellate review. *Lyons v. Fid. Nat'l Title Ins. Co.*, 415 S.C. 115, 781 S.E.2d 126 (Ct. App. 2015).

Appellant fails to cite to any authority in support of his arguments on appeal. He cites cases that set forth the standard for the granting or denial of a motion for summary judgment under Rule 56 SCRPC; however he fails to cite any facts or authority for his assertion that the granting of summary judgment to the Respondent by the Master inequity was improper or an abuse of discretion. Appellant cites *Doe v. Batson*, 345 S.C. 316, 221 548 S.E.2d 854,857 (2001) for the proposition that "once a motion for summary judgment is filed along with a supporting affidavit, the opposing party, if it wishes to have more time for discovery, is required under Rule 56(f) SCRPC, to file an opposing affidavit to explain why more time is necessary." See Appellant Initial

Br. at p. 3,4. However, the Appellant did not file an appropriate motion under Rule 56(f), SCRCPC and did not raise the discovery issue at the trial court. Although Appellant appears *pro se*, he is held to the same standard as an attorney licensed to practice before this Court. *Rouvet v. Rouvet*, 388 S.C. 301, 696 S.E. 2d 204 (Ct. App. 2010).

It is clear that the Appellant did not raise his appellate issues at the hearing on the summary judgment motion, likewise, he has not provided any argument in his initial brief to sustain his allegations. Therefore, the Court should deny the appeal.

2. Did the Master in Equity properly grant summary judgment to the Respondent?

Respondent established in the Lower Court that it was entitled to relief through the provision of accurate and indisputable facts necessary to prove its right to foreclose on the Property. Respondent proved the existence of the Note, Mortgage and assignment and that it is the holder of the Note with the right to bring the within action through the Affidavit submitted to the Court in support of the motion for summary judgment. Respondent has also proven that the Appellant is in default on the subject loan and was due for the December 1, 2015 payment and all subsequent monthly installments. Appellant failed to provide any evidence showing that Respondent's allegations were inaccurate. Appellant set forth no facts controverting the existence of the Note and Mortgage, that Respondent was the holder of the Note in the within action, and that Respondent was in default on the loan payments prior to the filing of the action. The loan in question was originated in March of 2004 and due to previous defaults, the loan was modified in December, 2015 to increase the principal balance by over \$650,000.00. No payments were made after the 2015 loan modification and the loan is due for the December 1, 2015 installment – the loan has been in default for 9 years since the loan modification. The Appellant

has taken advantage of the legal system to unreasonably delay the Respondent's attempt to foreclose the loan.

Appellant has failed to meet the burden of establishing a defense to the foreclosure. "Once the debt and default have been established, the mortgagor has the burden of establishing a defense to foreclosure such as lack of consideration, payment, or accord and satisfaction." U.S. Bank Trust National Association v. Bell, 385 S.C. 364, 684 S.E.2d 199, 205 (S.C. Ct. App. 2009) (quoting Bandy v. Bandy, 187 S.C. 410, 413, 197 S.E. 396, 397 (1938)) As a result, there is no dispute as to the fact that Appellant entered into a binding contract and failed to perform under, and breached said contract by failing to make monthly payments on the subject loan as they became due and that Respondent sustained damages as a direct and proximate result of appellant's breach. The Appellant has not brought forth any arguments to the contrary either at the hearing on the motion for summary judgment or in this appeal.

The Respondent also requests that the Court affirm the decision of the Lower Court for any ground appearing on the record as provided by Rule 220(c) of the SCACR.

CONCLUSION

The appeal sought by the Appellant is the latest in numerous attempts to stop the Plaintiff from exercising its rights under the contract between the Appellant and the Respondent. The Appellant did not raise any objection to the motion for summary judgment and only requested that the foreclosure sale be delayed until the end of September, 2023. As such, the Appellant cannot raise those issues now. In this appeal, the Appellant has failed to cite any authority for why his

appeal should be granted. Respondent requests this Court affirm the decision of the Lower Court for the reasons cited in the Respondent's Brief, or for any ground appearing on the record.